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UNITED STATES DISTRICTCOURT  “F || ED
WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 7110 Jfl |b P 251

1Bk, US DISTRICT COURT

SAN.ANTONIO DIVISION - wed [.  DISTRICT OF TERAS
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA SCﬁM%jA@@ , u i? IS
V. IN DICTMEN T ‘
ROBERT BROOKS ¢)) [Vlolatlons 18 U S.C. §1349, Consplracy, .
CHERYL BROOKS ) 18 U.S.C. § 1341 Mail Fraud; 18 US.C. |
RICHARD HOWARD 3) § 2, Aldmg & Abettmg] ’
YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA (4)
NIESHA MANUEL G) -
TAMATHA BUCKHOLT - (6)
STACY OWENS Ve
GERALDINE WILLIAMS . (8)
CESAR GONZALES )
CEDRIC LESTER (10)
CASEY VAUGHAN . an
JOSEPH COOPER (12)
‘VADIM GAZANCHIYANTS (13)
GEORGE AUTOBEE (14)
DEBORAH ALLEN (15)
MAURICIO BETES (16)
STEPHEN BROTT (17
"RICK RUSSELL (18)
ANTHONY LOREK (19)
CLAUDE VAUGHAN (20)
GLYNNWOOD BOWMAN @21)
STANLEY ROOS 22)
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

INTRODUCTION

At all times relevant to this Indictgnent:

L PERSONS AND ENTITIES

1. Defendant ROBERT BROOKS was a re51dent of Dallas Texas, and the husband

of Defendant Cheryl Brooks. He was the de facto principal of Relocation Studlo, Texas
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Resrdentlal Propertles and Upscale Realty, ent'm'es in whose names he bought and sold real
| estate He provided the start up funds for and controlled, Pro Processing, which prepared
mortgage apphcanons and Progressxve Title & Abstraet, a real estate trtle company engaged in ’
. .the busmess of real estate closmgs and seftlements He provided start up funds for Bronco
Mortgage and Supreme Mortgage Group, each of whjch were mortgage brokers.
2. ' Defendant CHERYL BROOKS was a resxdent of Dallas, Texas, and the wife of
Defendant Robert Brooks
| 3. Defendant RICHARD HOWARD was a resident of McKinney, Texas, and an
attorney at law. He wasa prmc1pa1 of Progressive Trtle & Abstract.

4. A i)erson known to the Grand Jury, but Identlﬁed herein only as L. C was a
resident of San Antonio Texas, and operated Supreme Mortgage Group. Supreme Mortgage
Group, LLC (Supreme Mortgage) a San Antomo Texas, entity engaged in the business of
arrangrng remdentlal mortgage loans for customers Wlth varjous mortgage lenders

5. Defendant YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA was a resrdent ﬁrst of San
Antonro Texas, and later Dallas Texas. She wasa principal of Pro Processing, and was a Senior -
processor. As a mortgage processor she put to gether mortgage files for review by underwnters

6. Defendant NIESHA MANUEL was a resident of Dallas, Texas, and an employee
of P—ro'Proc'es_sing.- 'As a mortgage processor; she put together mortgage files for review by
underwriters. - | |

7. Defendant TAMATHA BUCKHOLT was a resident of Dallas, Texas, and an
emnloyee' of Pro Processing. As‘a mortgage processor, she put to'.gether mortgage files for review

by underwriters.
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8. Defen‘dant STACY vOWENS was a resident .of Dallas; Texas, and the braneh
manager and an escrow ofﬁcer at Equlty Title of Texas. Her duties mcluded the preparation of
the HUD 1 Settlement Statement and conducting real estate fransaction closmgs. '

9. Defendant GERALD]NE WILLIAMS was a res1dent of Dallas Texas, and the
braneh manager and an escrow officer at Progressxve Tifle & Abstract Her dutles mcluded the
preparatlon of the HUD-1 Settlement Statement and conducting real estate transaction closmgs. .

10.  Defendant CESAR GONZALES was 2 resident of Dallas, Texas, and an escrow
ofﬁcer at Progresswe Title & Abstract His duties included the preparation of the HUD-1
Settlement Statement and conductmg real estate transactron closings.

11. - ,De.fenda.nt, CEDRIC I ESTER was a resident of Dallas, Texas, andan appraiser
trainee who worked under the supervision of a State Certit'led Appraiser.

12.  Defendant CASEY VAUGHAN was a resident of Houston, Texas, and a State
Certified Appraiser. |

13. ‘ Defendant JOSEPH COOPER was a resndent of San Antomo Texas, and areal
estate agent. _
| 14. Defendant VADIM GAZANCHIYANTS was a resident of Las Vegas, Nevada,
and a property manager working on behalf of Defendant Robert Brooks.

15_.. Defondant GEORGE AUTOBEE was a resident of San Asitonio, Texas.

16. Defendant DEBORAH ALLEN was a resident 'otf BuIVerde, Texas, and at various
times worked for Adkins Fmanc1a1 Group anid Defendant Cheryl Brooks.

17.  Defendant MAURICIO BETES was a res1dent of Inglewood, Callforma

18.. Defendant STEPHEN BROTT was a resident of Los'Angeles, California.
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19.  Defendant KICK RUSSELL was a resident of Marina Dex-....y, California.

20. ~ Defendant ANTHONY LOREK was resndent of Lancaster Cahforma.

21.  Defendant CLAUDE VAUGHAN was atesident of Dixon, California.

29 Defendant GLYNNWOOD BOWMAN was a resident of Valley Village,
California. |

2. Defendant STANLEY ROOS was a resident of Los Angeles, Californi.

24. JPMorgao Chase Bank, NA (Chase ]3ank) was a federally instlted bank whose
* deposits were insured by the Federal'Deposit Insurance Corporation (FBIC). |

250 -Wells Fargo Bank, (W elts Fargo) was a federally insured bank whose deposits

were msured by the Federal Deposxt Tnsurance Corporation (FDIC) |

26. Countrywide Bank, FSB (Countryw1de) was a federally insured bank whose
deposits were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Coxporat]on (FDIC). Countrywide Bank,
FSB merged w1th Bank of Ameriea'on or about April '27,'20'09..

27.- AmerieaHomeKey, WMC Mortgage Corpora‘oion, Taylor Bean & Whitaker,
Freedom Mortgage Corp, GMAC Mortgage LLC, Optlon One Mortgage Corporatlon Long
~ Beach Moxtgage AMPRO Moﬁgage and Trian, LLC, dba AMF were compames engaged in the

business of mortgage lendmg nat10nw1de Trian, LLC, dba AMF was located in Austin, Texas.
28.  Equity Title of Texas, was a t1t1e company engaged in the business of real estate
closiogs and settlements.

| 29. - Adkins ‘Finaocial Group was an entity located in Saa Antonio, Texas, engaged in

the busiaess of anaogiog residential mortgage Joans for customers with various mortgage

lenders.
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30.  Supreme Mortgage Group, LLC, was an entity located in San Antonio, Texas,

engaged in the business of arranging residential mortgage loans for customers with various

mortgage lenders.

31, Bronco Mortgage was an entity located in Houston, Texas, engaged in the

business of arranging residential mortgage loans for customers with various mortgage lenders.

32.  Alethes dba Amerinet was an entity located in Austin, Texas, engaged in the

business of arranging residential mortgage loans for customers with various mortgage lenders.

COUNT ONE. .
[18 U.S.C. § 1349]

1. . The Introduction to this Indictment is incorporated herein as if fully restated.

2. From on or about May 17, 2005, to on or aboﬁt February 21, 2008, in the Western

District of Téxas‘, the Northern District of Texas, and elsewhere, the Defendants,

ROBERT BROOKS,
CHERYL BROOKS,
_ RICHARD HOWARD,
YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA,
NIESHA MANUEL,
TAMATHA BUCKHOLT,
STACY OWENS,
GERALDINE WILLIAMS,
CESAR GONZALES,
CEDRIC LESTER,
CASEY VAUGHAN,
JOSEPH COOPER,
VADIM GAZANCHIYANTS,
GEORGE AUTOBEE,
DERORAH ALLEN,
MAURICIO BETES,
STEPHEN BROTT,
RICK RUSSELL,
ANTHONY LOREK,
CLAUDE VAUGHAN,
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GLYNNWOOD BOWMAN,
- and -
STANLEY ROOS
and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury did willfully and knowmgly combme

conspire, confedcratc and agree together and with each other, and with other persons, to dcvxse 3.

scherme fo defraud onc or more fedcrally_ insured financial institutions, and other mortgage |
companies, and to ontain money and prope'nyﬁby means of faigc a.nd fraudll—lent pretenses,
representations, and promises, and fo nau‘se» the nse of the mails ana.inters‘;tafé wire transfe'rn fnr :
the purpose of executmg and attemptmg to execute their fraudulent scheme contrary to Tltle 18
United States Code, Sectlons 1341, 1343, 1344 and 2, o

THE OBIECT OF THE CONSPIRACY

2. . Itwasthe Obj ect of the conspiracy to obtain money from mortgage proceeds

through the use of a simultaneous purchase at ot about Tair market value and sale at an artificially -

inflated price, known as a “land flip” or “property flip”. -

MANNER AND MEANS

The conspiracy and scheme to defraud were accoxnplished through the fo'llo'wing means:

3, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS and CHERYL»BROC-)KS engaged in the businéss
nf buying and :sixnultan_eous-ly selling condominium units (condos) and conventional rcsidénces,
otherwise known as “flipping.” ‘

4. Defendant RQBERT_BROQKS dirnqtly or with the assistance of others located
" residential property which was for sale.
5. Defen(_iant ROBERT éROéKS and others reornited persons 0 act as nominee

buyers of the properties. -
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6. Defendant ROBERT BROOKS told the nominee buyere\tliat mortgages would be
arranged for them, that no fees or down payment rvc')uld be req_uired from them, that they would
: receive a large sum of money ($10,000 plus) at the real estate closing for thetr part1c1pat10n, that
all closing costs would be paid, that'monthly mortgage payments for the ﬁrst twelve months of
the mortgage -wouldbe paid with funds eet aslde at the time of closing, and that occupancy, use,
and sulfseqtient re-sale of the propertiee would be handled by Defendant ROBERT BROOKS. /

7. Defendant ROBERT BROOKS paid appraisers or in some instances apprarser
trainees, and specifically Defendants CEDRIC LESTER, and CASEY VAUGHAN for inflated
real estate eppraisals which would support the amount of rnortgagee which Defendant ROBERT
" BROOKS and various others were fraudulently attempting to obtain.

8. ' | Defendants ROBERT BROOKS and CHERYL.BROOKS engaged Supreme .A
Mortgage Group, Adkms Fmancml Group, Bronco Mortgage and Alethes dba Amerinet, ‘to
obtam mortgage loans for condo purchaser/nommees and several conventional re51dence
. purchaser/nominees. |

- 9. Defendants ROBERT BROOKS and CHERYL BROOKS engaged
'DefendantsYVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA NIESHA MANUEL, and TAMATHA
BUCKHOLT as loan processors to prepare mortgage loan apphcattons for the nominees whrch
contained false and fictitious mforrnatton and material omissions necessary to get the mortgage
loans anproved such as bank statements that rnatenally ot/erstated or completely fabricated

apphcant bank balances Other falsmes included income; assets, liabilities, employment, marital

status, and mtended occupancy of the properttes.

10.  Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL BROOKS, JOSEPH COOPER,
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VADIM GAZANCHIYANTS GEORGE AUTOBEE DEBORAH ALLEN MAURICIO
BETES STEPHEN BROTT RICK RUSSELL, ANTHONY LOREK CLAUDE VAUGHAN
GLYNNWOOD BOWMAN falsified information on mortgage loan applications.

11.  Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, CHERYL BROOKS, YVONNE SALAZAR
QUINTAN[LLA NIESHA MANUEL TAMATHA BUCKHOLT, MAURICIO BETES,
| STEPHEN BROTT RICK RUSSELL ANTHONY LOREK CLAUDE VAUGHAN, and |
STANLEY ROOS caused moneys to be temporarily dep051ted into nominees’ bank accounts to
make it appear the nommees had sufficient funds on hand to qualify for the mortgage loan being
sought. These moneys were returned to Defendant CHERYL BROOKS or forwarded to yet
another nominee’s account once the nominee’s bank had completed a venﬁcatlon of deposit to-:
be submitted to the mortgage lender | | |

12, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS and YVONNE SALAZAR QU]NTAN]LLA
caused changes to be made on comn‘utments for title insurance documents that were prepared by
the title companies closmg the real estate pu:chases The original commitment for title i insurance
documents listed the actual developef/seller of the real estate as the owner of record. Prior to
subtnlttlng the commntment documents to the mortgage underwnters as a part.of the eloan
. application package the name of the actual developer/seller was “whlted out” and replaced with
Relocatlon Studio, Texas Résidential Propertles or Upscale Realty.. These deceptlons concealed
from mortgage lenders the fact that ‘Defendant ROBERT BROOKS was sxmultaneously buymg
and selhng the real estate in “flip” transactions and concealed the frue market values of the real
. estate from the mortgage lenders. Defendants GERALDINE W]LLIAMS and CESAR

GONZALES caused commitments for tltle insurance documents to be falsified by stating that




- (aSe HITU-CI-UUDO0-ID  L/ULLINISIIL 1 ¢ v s = om0 -

4 Ups-cal‘e.Realty was the owner of the property for the subéequent sale v;'hen'in fact it had not yet

- purchased the property. . |

13.  Defendant ROBERT BROOKS used the proceeds from the purported sales to

- varlous norrnnees to pay for his 1mt1al purchase of the real estate to pay closmg costs for both his
purchase and sale to the nominee, to-pay the nommee ’s down-payment to pay the nominee for
the nominee’s partrclpatlon and topay the mortgage for the first 12 months after whrch each

mortgage went into default. .

- QVERT ACTS

- To effect the purpose and Ob_]CCtS of thrs consplracy and the scherne to defraud, the

followmg overt acts among others were commrtted in the Westem Dlstnct of Texas, the

' Northem Dtsmct of Texas and elsewhere .

14. On or about May 17, 2005 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS and RICHARD

‘HOWARD. conducted a',sunultaneous closing or “ﬂx in connection W1th ##04 Westchester

'Court, McKlnncy, Texas
15 . On or about March 27, 2006, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, CHERYL

' BROOKS; GERALDINE W WILLIAMS; and VADIM GAZANCHIYANTS conducted a

‘sirmlltaneous closing or “flip” i in connection with ##16, Seremty Lane Heath Texas:

16. Onor about August 28, 2006, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS and GERALD]NE
WILLIAMS, and L.C. conducted a simultaneous closing or “flip” in connectlon with#18 High -
Point',.l-)allas, Texas. | -

170 On or.ahout September 29, 2006, L.C.- caused a nominee to sign a Uniform

Residential Loan Application.




AJCADI W T W W W e —

. flj) On or about October 3, 2006, Defendant STACY OWEND sent documents via
UPStoL.C. | |

19. On or about October 2, 2006 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL

. BROOKS STACY. OWENS and CEDRIC LESTEK and L.C. conducted a srmultaneous

closrng or “flip” in connectlon wrth ###37 Dixon Branch Drrve Dallas Texas.
20. Onor about September 13, 2006, Defendants J OSEPH COOPER and GEORGE
' AUTOBEE srgned a residential sales contract '
2_1; On or about September 19, 2006 Defendant GEORGE AUTOBEE signed a
Umforrn Residential Loan Application.
22. .Onora bout October 4 20006, Defendants JOSEPH COOPER and GEORGE :
AUTOBEE signed a HUD-1 Settlement Staternent
23.  Onor about October 4, 2006 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
BROOKS STACY OWENS J OSEPH COOPER, and GEORGE AUTOBEE and L.C.
conducted a sunultaneous closing or “flip” in connectron with #20 Charlotte Court, Heath A
Texas. )
V24. 3 On or about October 4, 2096, Defendants ROBERT B_ROOKS, RICHARD
HOWARD, STACY OWENS, and CEDRIC LESTER, and L.C. conducted a simultaneous
' closing or “flip” in connection with ##70 Marcie Lane, Rockwall, Texas. | |
| ‘._25'. On or about November 17, 2006, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, STACY
. OWENS and CEDRIC LESTER and L C. conducted a simultaneous closmg or “ﬂrp” in

connectron with Condo 7202 located in Dallas, Texas.

- 26. Onor about November 17, 2006, Defendants ROBERT. BROOKS STACY

10
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OWENS, and-CEDRIC LESTER, and L.C. conducted a simultaneous. closmg or “flip” in

l connectlon with Condo 7203 located in Dallas, Texas.

27.  -Onor about January 26, 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS STACY
OWENS, and CEDRIC LESTER, and LC conducted a simultaneous closing or “flip” in
4 connectlon with #4412 Mounts Run, Dallas, Texas.

: 28, On or about January 18 2007 Defendant GEORGE AUTOBEE 51gned a Uniform

Res1dent1a1 Loan Apphcatlon

29. Om 0r about January 18 2007, Defendant GEORGE AUTOBEE 31gned a HUD 1

Settlement Statement:

. On or about January 22,2007,L.C. sent documents via Lone Star Overmght to

Defendant STACY OWENS

i 31, ‘Onor about January 26, 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, STACY
OWENS, CEDRIC LESTER, JOSEPH COOPER, and GEORGE AUTOBEE, and L.C.
conducted a sunultaneous closing or “flip” in connection w1th Condo 7103 located in Dallas,
Texas ‘ ‘
32. - On-or about February 26,2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, RICHARD"
HOWARD STACY OWENS and GLYNNWOOD BOWMAN conducted a snnultaneous
closmg or “ﬂ1p” in connection with a house on Pmtall Point, Heath, Texas

33.  Onor aBout February 27,2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, STACY
_OWENS, CESAR GONZALES and J OSEPH COOPER condncted a simultaneous closing or

“flip” in connectlon with Condo 1107 located in Dallas, Texas

.34, Onor about March 8, 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS STACY OWENS '

11
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GERALDINE WILLIAMS, and VADIM GAZANCHIYANTS conducte 2 sigltancovs closing -

" or “flip” in connection w1th Condo 4102 located in Dallas Texas.

35, Onorabout March 30,2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, RICHARD
HOWARD STACY OWENS and ] OSEPH COOPER conducted a snnultaneous closmg or
“ﬂ1p” in connect1on w1th Condo 5102 located in Dallas, Texas |

‘ Onor about June 15, 2007 Defendants YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTAN]LLA

N'[ESHA MANUEL, and TAMATHA BUCKHOLT caused documents to be sent via DHL

Express to the nominee buyer in Bulverde Texas

37. On or about June 15 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
BROOKS YVONNE SALAZAR QU]NTAN]LLA STACY OWENS and GERALDINE

W]LLIAMS conducted a s1multaneous closmg or “flip” in connectlon w1th Condo 1103 located -

© in Dallas, Texas.

e 38. Onor about June 18, 2007, Defendant ROBERT BROOKS s1gned a HUD- l

: Settlement Statement _
39 On or about July 5, 2007 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, NlESHA MANUEL
: AMATHA BUCKHOLT STACY OWENS, and GERALDINE WILLIAMS conducted a
s1multaneous closmg or “ﬂ]p” in connectlon thh Condo 1203 located in Dallas, Texas.
40. On or about July 6 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, YVONNE SALAZAR
QUINTANILLA, STACY OWENS GERALDINE WILLIAMS and CASEY VAUGHAN |

conducted a s1multaneous closmg or “ﬂlp” in connectlon with Condo 5206 located in Dallas,

Texas,

On or about July 9, 2007, Defendant STACY OWENS sent docurnents via UPS to

12
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the mortgage. lender in Austin, Texas

42. - Onor about Jul)I 9, 2007 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL BROOKS,

YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA STACY OWENS TAMATHA BUCKHOLT

_ GERALDINE WILLIAMS, CASEY VAUGHAN, and CLAUDE VAUGHAN conducted a

| simultaneous closmg or “ﬂlp” in connectlon with Condo 3105 located in Dallas, Texas.

43,  Onor about July 18, 2007 ROBERT BROOKS CI—IERYL BROOKS, YVONNE

SALAZAR QUINTANILLA TAMATHA BUCKHOLT STACY OWENS, and CASEY

: VAUGI-IAN-co'nducted’a simultaneous closing or “flip” in connectlon W1th Condo 3206 located

in Dallas, Texas.

. "On or about July 18, 2007, Defendant STACY OWENS sent documents via UPS

to AFM in Austin, Texas

45.  On or about July 26, 2007 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL BROOKS,

YVONNE SALAZAR QUlNTANILLA STACY OWENS, TAMATHA BUCKHOLT and

" CASEY VAUGHAN conducted a sunultaneous closing or “flip” in connectlon with Condo 5208

located in Dallas, Texas.

'_46; Onor about July 31, 2007 ROBERT BROOKS, CHERYL BROOKS, NIESHA
MANUEL STACY OWENS GERALDINE WILLIAMS CESAR GONZALES ‘CASEY
VAUGHAN and CLAUDE VAUGHAN conducted a simultaneous closmg or “ﬂ1p” in

connectlon with Condo 6206 located in Dallas, Texas. -

"47.  Omnor about July 10, 2007 Defendant DEBORAH ALLEN faxed photocop1es of

| ~ her Texas driver’s license and social security card to Defendant YVONNE SALAZAR

QUINTANILLA.

13
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48.  Onor about August 17, 2007 Defendant DEBORAH ALLL‘N signed a Uniform
| Re51deat1al Loan Apphcatlon in connectlon w1th Condo 1104 located in Dallas, Texas |
- 49, On or about August 17, 2007 Defendant DEBORAH ALLEN signed a Umforrn
Resldentlal Loan Apphcatmn in connectlon with Condo 1101 located in Dallas Texas.
@ | On or about August 20, 2007 Defendant DEBORAH ALLEN sent documents via
Lone Star Overnight from Bulverde Texas, to Defendant CESAR GONZALES.
5L | On or about August 21 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
BROOKS YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA, NIESHA MANUEL, GERALD]NE
WILLIAMS CESAR GONZALES CASEY VAUGHAN, and DEBORAH ALLEN conducted a -
s1mu1taneous closmg or “fip” in connectlon with, Conclo 1104 located in Dallas, Texas
B 52 Onor about August 22 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
BROOKS YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA NIESHA MANUEL GERALD]NE
WILLIAMS CESAR GONZALES, CASEY VAUGHAN, and DEBORAH ALLEN conducted a
SImu.ltaneous closmg or “ﬂlp” in connect1on with Condo 1101 located in Dallas, Texas :
- 53. Onor about August 21,2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, CHERYL '
BROOKS CESAR GONZALES CASEY VAUGHAN and DEBORAH ALLEN conducted 2 '
sunultaneous closmg or “ﬂlp” in connectlon with Condo 5204 located in Dallas Texas
54, i " On or about August 30 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS Cl-lERYL
BROOKS CESAR GONZALES, and CASEY VAUGHAN conducted a simultaneous closing or
“ﬂ1p” in connectlon with Condo 1105 1ocated in Dallas ‘Texas. .
55.  Onor about September 4,2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, CHERYL

BROOKS, YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA, GERALDINE WILLIAMS CESAR

14
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' GONZALES and CASEY VAUGHAN conducted 2 simultanebus closing or “flip” in connection

with Condo 2103 located in Dallas, Texas
56, On or bont Sepembe , 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, CHERYL

BROOKS, NTESHA MANUEL, GERALD]NE WILLIAMS CESAR GONZALES, CASEY
VAUGHAN, and- VADIM GAZANCHIYANT S conducted a sxmultaneous closing or “flip” in

'connectron w1th Condo 3106 located in-Dallas, Texas

57.  Onor about September 7,2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
BROOKS GERALD]NE WILLIAMS, CESAR GONZALES CASEY VAUGHAN, and
VADIM GAZANCHIYANTS condueted a srmultaneous closmg or “flip” in connection with

Condo 7204 located in Dallas Texas.

‘ 58.' ‘On or about October 30 2007 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
: 'BROOKS CESAR GONZALES and CASEY VAUGHAN conducted-a srmultaneous closmg or

“ﬂrp” in connectlon with Condo 1201 Jocated in Dallas, Texas.

59, On or about November 2, 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
'BROOKS, GERALDINE WILLIAMS, and CASEY VAUGHAN conducted a sunultaneous
.closmg or “ﬂrp” n connectlon w1th Condo 7110 located in Dallas Texas.

60/ Onor about November 6, 2007, the closrng documents for Condo 7110 were sent

via DHL Express to Wells Fargo Home Mortgage

6,1. On or about November 7,2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL.
_BROOKS YVONNE SALAZAR QUlNTANILLA GERALDINE WlLLIAMS, CASEY
VAUGHAN MAURICIO BETES, and STANLEY ROOS conducted a simultaneous closing or

“flip” in connection with Condo 4101 located in Dallas Texas.

15
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' - 62. . Onor about November 7, 2007, Defendants ROBERT B‘LROOKS CHERYLE
BROOKS, YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA GERALDINE WILLIAMS CASEY
VAUGHAN MAURICIO BETES and STANLEY ROOS conducted a sunultaneous closing or
B “ﬂlp” in connection with Condo 6208 located in Dallas, Texas.

63 On or about December 20, 2007 ‘Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
: BROOKS, YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA, GERALDINE WII_JLIAMS, CESAR
- GONZALES RICK RUSSELL and STANLEY ROOS conducted a simultaneous clos'i_ng or

“ﬂxp” in connection w1th Condo 7101 located in Dallas, Texas

- 64. " Onor about December 20, 2007, Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, CHERYL
BROOKS YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA, GERALDINE WILLIAMS CESAR
GONZALES STEPI-[EN BROTT and STANLEY ROOS conducted a s1rnultaneous closmg or

“ﬂlp” in conncctlon wﬂh Condo 5108 located in Dallas Texas.

' 65 On or about December 26 2007 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS, CHERYL
BROOKS YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA NIESHA MANUEL GERALDINE
.. WELIAMS,'CESAR GONZALES RICK RUS SELL, and STANLEY ROOS conducted a
simultaneous closmg or “flip” in connectlon  with Condo 5105 located in Dallas Texas.

(@ On or about December 26, 2007, Defendant GERALD]NE WILLIAMS sent the
: jclosiog documents for Condo 5105 via FedEx to Coqntrywid_c Bank, FSB, in Austin, Texas.

67. - On or about December 26 2007, Defend‘ants ROBERT BROOKS 'CI-IERYL

BROOKS, NIESHA MANUEL, TAMATHA BUCKHOLT GERALDINE WILLIAMS, CESAR
, GONZALES CASEY VAUGHAN STEPHEN BROTT, and STANLEY ROOS conducted a -

simultaneous closmg or “ﬂlp” in connection with Condo 5104 Jocated in Dallas Texas

16
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’
@ On or about December 31 2007 Defcndant DEBORAH ALLEN sent closmg
: documents for Condo 4205 from Bulverde Texas, via Amcrlcan A1rl1nes Priority Parccl Semce
to Defendants ROBERT BROOKS YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA, and GERALDINE ‘
WILLIAMS in Dallas ‘Texas. |

69. -Onor about January 2, 2008 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
BROOKS GERALDINE WILLIAMS CASEY VAUGHAN, JOSEPH COOPER, and -

: DEBORAH ALLEN conducted a sunultaneous closmg or “flip” in connection vnth Condo 4205

located in Dallas Texas

70. _‘ On or about January 16, 2008 Defendants ROBERT BROOKS CHERYL
' BROOKS YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA, NIESHA MANUEL, TAMATHA
BUCKHOLT GER.ALDINE WILLIAMS, CESAR GONZALES, CASEY VAUGHAN,
STEPHEN BROTT, and STANLEY ROOS conducted a simultaneous closing or “flip” i in
conncction With Coudo ‘6201 located in Dallas, Texas.

71 Onorabout February 5, 2007, Defcndants ROBERT BROOKS, CHERYL
BROOKS, YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA, GERALDINE WILLIAMS, CESAR
. GONZALES CASEY VAUGHAN, ANTHONY LOREK, GLYNNWOOD BOWMAN, and
| STANLEY ROOS conducted a sunultaneous closing or “flip” in connectlon with Condo 4106

located in Dallas Texas

72. On or about Febmary 21, 2008 Defcndants ROBERT BROOKS CI-IERYL
BROOKS GERALD]NE WILLIAMS CESAR GONZALES CASEY VAUGHAN |
ANTHONY LOREK and STANLEY ROOS conducted a sunultaneous closing or “flip” in

connection with Condo 7205 located in Dallas, Texas..




All in violation o: sude 18, United States Code, § 1349.

COUNT TWO
 [18USC.§§1341 &2]

1. The Introduction to this Indlcfment and Manner and Meaus port:on of Count One

are mco_ggorated herem as if fully restated a the scheme to defrand ¢ and obtam money and
png;_;_e_nly_}_az means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promlses devised by the -
Defenaants. |
L2 On or about October 4, 2006, the Defendants,
- ROBERT BROOKS,
CHERYL BROOKS,
STACY OWENS,
 and
CEDRIC LESTER, .
. aided‘and abetted by each other, and by others known to, the GTend Jury,; for the purnose of
execuﬁné the above-described scheme to deﬁ-_aud and obtain nnoney and property by xneans of
false and fraudulent pretenses, Iepresentaﬁons, and promises, did lmewmgly cause fo be‘
dehvered bya pnvate and commerc1a1 mterstate carrier, to w1t UPS, accordmg to the directions
thereon, from Flower Mound, Texas, in the Northern D1stnc’c of Texas, to Supreme Mortgage  + .
Group in San Antomo, Texas, in the Westemn District of Texas, items relating to the closing f_or |
##37 Dixon Branch Dnve Dallas, Texas.
In violation of Title 18, Umted States Code, §§ 1341 &2.

COUNT THREE
[18 US.C. §§ 1341 &2]

1. The Introdiction to this Indictment and Manner and Means portion of Count One

are ineorporateé herein as if fully restated as the seheme to defrand and obtain money and '
——————-— .
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| : \
property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises devised by the
Defendants.
2. Onorabout} anual;y 22, 2007, in the Western District of Texas; the Defendants,
ROBERT BROOKS,
STACY OWENS,
- CEDRIC LESTER,
JOSEPH COOPER,
. and
'GEORGE AUTOBEE,
' gided and abetted by each other, and by others Jnown to the Grand Jury, for the purpose of
. executmg the above—descnbed scheme to defraud and obtam money and property by means of
false and ﬁaudulent pretenses representahons and promlses did knovwngly cause fo be
dehvered bya pnvate and commerc1a1 intérstate carrier, to vnt Lone Star Overnight, according
to the directions the'reon, closing documents for Condo 7103 1ocated in Dallas, Texas.

In violation of Tltle 18, Umted States Code, §§ 1341 &2.

COUNT FOUR
18 U S.C. §§ 1341 &2]

1. The Introdue’aon to this Indictment and Ma.nner and Means portlon of Count One
-_—

are incorporated herem as if fully restated as the scheme to defraud and obtain money and

. property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses representatlons and promises dewsed by the

Defendants.
2. On or about June 15, 2007, ﬁe Defendants,

ROBERT BROOKS,
~ CHERYL BROOKS,
YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA,
NIESHA MANUEL,. -
TAMATHA BUCKHOLT, *

19




Case 5:10—0{"' 536-FB}, Document 1 Filed 06/16/10‘.\' age 20 of 27
, . : o

and
STACY OWENS,

aided and abetted by each other, and by others known to the Grand Jury, for the purpose of
executing the above- descrrbed scheme to defraud and obtarn money and property by means of
false and fraudulent pretenses, 'representatrons and prormses did k.nowmgly cause to be
delivered by a- prlvate and commercral interstate carrier, to wit: DHL Express, according to tbe
directions thereon from Dallas, Texas in the Northern District of Texas to Bulverde, Texas, in
the Westem Drstnct of Texas closrng docurnents for Condo 1103 located in Dallas Texas.
In violation of Title 18, Umted States Code, §§ 1341 & 2
COUNT FIVE
[18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 &2]
1. - The Introductlon to this lndrctment and Manner and Means portlon of Count One

are incdrpora;ted herein asif fully restated’ as the scheme to defraud and obtain money and
: property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises devised by the
Defendants.
2. OnoraboutJuly 9, EO@?, the Defendants, -

~: \ROBERT BROOKS,

. YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA,
"~ STACY OWENS,
GERALDINE WILLIAMS,
: and
CASEY VAUGHAN,

alded and abetted by each other, and by others known to the Grand Jury, for the purpose of

executrng the above- descrrbed scheme to defraud and obtain money and property by means of

false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, did knowingly cause to be

SIS
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i

~ delivered bya private and commercial interstate carrier, to wit: UPS, according to the directions
thereon, from F lower Mound, Texas in the Northern Distri_ct of Texas, to Austin, Texas, in the

: Western DlStI‘lCt of Texas closmg documents for Condo 5206 located in Dallas Texas.

" In violation of Trtle 18, Umted States Code ) 1341 & 2

. COUNTSIX
TI8U.S.C. §§ 1341 &2]

1. The Introduction to tbis Indictment and Manner and Means portion of Count One
. ’—-ﬂ .

are incorporated herem as if fully restated as the scheme to defraud and obtam mioney and
- property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses representatrons and promises devised by the
Defendants.
2.- . Onor about July 18,2007, the Defendants,
ROBERT BROOKS,
: ICHERYL BROOKS,
YVONNE SALAZAR-QUINTANILLA,
AMATHA BUCKHOLT,
] STACY. OWENS
and ‘
CASEY VAUGHAN,
aided and abetted by each other, and by others known to the Grand Jury, for the purpose of
: executmg the above descnbed scheme to de&aud and obtam money and property by means. of
false and fraudulent pretenses representatrons and promiises, - did knowmgly cause to be
delivered by a prlvate and commercial interstate carrier, to w1t UPS according to the directions
thereon, from Flower Mound Texas, in the Northern District of Texas, to Austin, Texas, in the
i 1‘[’

Westen District of Texas closmg documents for Condo 3206 located in Dallas, Texas.

In violation of Title 18, UmtedrStates Code, §§ 1341 & 2.
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COUNT SEVEN
[18US C. §§ 1341 & 2]

1. The Introduction to this Indxct_ment and Mar_merand Means portion of Count One .

are incorporated herein as if fu_ily restated as the scheme to defraud and obtzin money and

property by means of false and fraudulent._preten.s'es, representations, and promises devised by the
| Defendants,
2. Onorabout Augusf 20, 2007, the Defendan'ts,‘

ROBERT BROOKS,
CHERYL BROOKS,
YVONNE SALAZAR QU]NTANILLA
NIESHAMANUEL, - -
GERALDINE WILLIAMS,
'CESAR GONZALES, .
- CASEY; VAUGHAN
' and:
- DEBORAH ALLEN,

aided and abetted by each other, and by others khown,te the Grand Jury, for the purpose of
executing the above-described scheme to defraud and.obtain money and 'propet"ty by means of
false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and pfomises, did knowingly cause to be

dehvered by a private and commermal intersiate carrier, to wit: Lone Star Overmght according to

the d1reet1ons thereon, from Defendant DEBORAH ALLEN in Bulverde, Texas, in the Western g

i 4
District of Texas to Dallas, Texas, in the Northe{m DlStI‘lCt of Texas closmg documents for

Condo 1104 located in Dallas, Texas.
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, §§ 1341 & 2.

COUNTEIGHT
[18 US.C. §§ 1341 & 2]

.-~ The Introduction to this Indictment and Manner and Meéms’portion of Count One
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are incorporated herein as if fully restated as the scheme to defraud-and obtain mu.cy and
____—_—‘

" properfy by means of false and fraudulent pretenses representatlons and promises devised by the

* Defendants.

)

2, On or about December 26,2007, the Defendants,

ROBERT BROOKS,
CHERYL BROOKS,
YVONNE SALAZAR QUINTANILLA;
NIESHA MANUEL,
GERALDINE WILLIAMS,

" CESAR GONZALES,
RICK RUSSELL,
- and
STANLEY ROOS,

aided and 'abetted by each other, and by others known to the Grand Jury, for the purpose of

exeouting the above-desonbed scheme 0 defraud and obtain money and propeity by means of
false and fraudulent pretenses representations and promises, did knowingly cause to be
dehvered by a private and commetcial interstate carrier, to wit: FedEx aecordrng to the

drrectrons thereon, from Dallas, Texas in the Northem Dlstrrct of Texas, to Countrywrde Bank,

FSB in Austm Texas in the Western Drstrlot lof Texas, a federally 1nsured ﬁnancral mstrtutron

the closing documents for Condo 5105 located in Dallas, Texas.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code §§ 1341 & 2.

COUNT NINE
[18USC. §§ 1341 &7]

1. The Introduction to thrs Indictment and Manner and Means portron of Count One -
: —
are incorporated herein as if fully restated as the scheme to defraud and obtam money and .
.___-——————‘—

property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses representatrons and promrses devised by the -

23
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Defendants.

2. Onor about December 31, 2007, in the Western District of Texas, the Defendants,

ROBERT BROOKS,’
CHERYL;BROOKS,
GERALDINE WILLIAMS,
CASEY VAUGHAN,
JOSEPH COOPER,

and o
DEBORAH ALLEN,

aided dnd abetted by each other, and by others k:nown to the Grand Jury, for the purpose of
executing the above described scheme to defraud and obtam money and property by means of
false and fraudulent pret_enses, representatlons and prormses d1d knowmgly cause to be
delivered by a private and commercial interstate carrier, to Wwit: Amcnc‘an A1rhnes Priority Parcei
Service, according to the directions thereon, cld;sing do.cument's' for Condo 4205 located in
Dallas, Texas. ‘ ( |
In v1olat10n of Tltle 18, Umted States Code §§ 1341 &2,
NOTICE OF UNITED STATES OF AMERICA'S DEMAND FOR FORFEITURE
[Tlt]e 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341,1349 and subject to forfeiture pursuant to

. Title 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C), made applicable to criminal forfeiture by
Title 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) see Rule 32.2, Fed. R. Crim. P. 1

L
Forfeiture Statutes Relating to Mall Fraud
[ Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1349]

As a result of the foregoing cnmmal v1olat10ns as s set forth in Counts One through Nine,
which are pumshable by 1mpnsonment for more than one ycar the United States gwés notice that

it intends to forfeit, but is not hm1ted to, the bclow hsted properties from. Defendants Robcrt
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. Brooks and Cheryl Brooks. Said Defendants shall forfeit all right, title .. nterest in said
properties to the United States 'pﬁrsuant to Rule 32.2','Fe'd.R.Crim.P., and Title 18 US.C.§

- 981(a)(1)(C), made applicable to briminal forfeiture pursuant to Title 28 U.S.C. § 2461, which

states,t}ié following: -

' Tile18US.C.§98L . |
~ (a)(1) The following property is subject to, forfeiture to the United States:

- (C) Any-property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds
traceable to a violation of section...of this title or any offense constituting "specified
unlawful activity" (as defined in section 1956(c)(7) of this fitle), or a conspiracy to

' commit such offense. ‘ '

" Title28 US.C. § 2461.. , - _
o () Whenever a civil fine, penalty or pecuniary forfeiture is prescribed for the
violation of an Act of Congress without specifying the mode of recovery or
enforcement thereof, it may be recovered in a civil action. ‘

This Notice of Demand for Forfeiture includes but is not limited to the property described
bel_dw in Paragraphs II and IIL.

1.
Personal Properties

$64,000.00 in Funds Received from D&M Leasing, as Proceeds from the Sale of a 2006 Aston
Martin, VIN: SCFBB03B26(GC02844, Registered to Robert & Cheryl Brooks;

$30,405.31, More or Less, contained in Merrill Lynch Acconnt Number 425-07290, in the name

v 5

of RC Brooks LLC, Located at Merrill Lynch, San Antonio, Texas; .

$32‘,524;00, More or Less, contained in'Merrill Lynch Acpdunt Number 425-1 3474, in the Name
. of Robert Brooks and Cheryl Brooks, at Merrill Lynch, San Antonio, Texas; and '

One 2007 21 Liberator Boat, Hull #AAT40789H607, and One Boat Trailer, License Plate #:
417ZHFP, VIN: AD717707 registered to.Upscale Realty LLC.

25
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Money Judgment

: As a resﬁlt of the;, foregoing cnmmal violations as set forth in Counts One through Nine,
Defendénts Robért 'quoks, Cheryl Brpoks, Richa_rd Howard, Yvonne Salazar Quiﬁtanilla, Niesha
Manuel, Tmathé Buckholt, Stacy Owens, Geraldine Williams, Cesar Gonzales, Céd:i.c Lestef,
Casey Vaughan, J oseﬁh Cooper, Vadim Gazanchiyants, Gcorge Autobee, Deborah Allen,

- Mauricio Betes, Stephcn:Brott, Rick Russeﬂ, Anthoqy Lore, Claﬁde Vaughan, Glynnwood
Bowman‘,.and»StaIﬂey Rbbs shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Rule 32.2, |
Fed.R.Crim.P,, and Title 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C), niade'-app;licable to cnmmal forféiture

imrsuant to Title 28 U.S.C. § 2461, the following described Money Judgment:

A sum of money equal to One Million Dollars and no cents ($1,000,000.00),
" representing the amount of proceeds obtained directly or indirectly as a result of
" the violations set out in the above-described Counts and for which Defendants
Robert Brooks, Cheryl Brooks, Richard Howard, Yvonne Salazar Quintanilla,
Niesha Manuel, Tamatha Buckholt, Stacy Owens, Geraldine Williams, Cesar
- . Gonzales, Cedric Lester, Casey Vaughan, Joseph Cooper, Vadim Gazanchiyants,
"+ .George Autobee, Deborali Allen, Mauricio Betes, Stephen Brott, Rick Russell,
Anthony Lore, Claude Vaughan, Glynnwood Bowman, and Stanley Roos are
jointly and severally liable: - : . :
: Iv. :
Substitute Assets™

If any of the properfieé and/or ﬁloney j'udgmcrit described above, as a result of aﬁy act or
| . omission of Defendants' Robert Brooks, Cheryl Brooks, chhard.Howard, ‘Yvorme Salazar

| Qumtamlla, Nieéha Maﬁuel, Tamaihé Buckhblt, Stacy Owens., Geraldine WiHjé.ms, Cesar |
Gonzales, Cedric Lester, .Césey Vaughan, Joseph Cooper, Vadix:ﬁ Gazanchiyaﬁts; chrge
Aufobeé, Deborah Allen, Mauricio Betes, Stephen ]srott; Rick Ru;sell; Anthbny ALore, Claude

. Vaughan, Glynnwood Bowman, and Stanley Roos:
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cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

- a
b. - has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person
-c. . has been placed beyond the Junsdlctlon of the Court;
d. - hasbeen substantially diminished in value; or -
e. ~ hasbeen commin:gled with other property which cannot be subdivided

~ without difficulty; S S .

it is the intent of the United States of America to seek forfeiture of any other property, to include

the above-descnbed propertles of said Defendants Robert Brooks and Cheryl Brooks, up to the

value of said propemes and/or money judgrnent as substltute assets pursuant to- Tltlc 18 US.C.§

982(b)(1), (See Tltle 21 U.S.C. § 853(p)) and Rule 32.2, Fed.R.Crim.P.

- ATRUEBILL. -

ERSON OF THE GRAND JURY
JOHN EMURPHY
: Umted States Attorney _
) WILLLAM R. HARRIS

Assistant United States Attorney
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT _
W002JUL 1Y PH 1217

WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

CLERK, U ) BISTRIST COURT
WESTERH Dl.lTl IF%%?‘&IS
: 'SAN ANTONIO DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ._,:v'~~. e
V. SA -1 1¢
ROBERT BROOKS (1) A | [Violations: Aidiﬁg False Tax
: . Return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2);
and o ' Filing False Tax Returns, 26
. T U.S.C. § 7206(1)]
CHERYL BRQOKS (2)

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

COUNTONE
[26 U.S.C. § 7206(2)]

On or about October 21, 2008, in the Western District of Texas, the Defendant,
ROBERT BROOKS,
'did willfully aid and assist in, and procure, counse'l,- and advise, the preparation and presentation
" 1o the Internal Revenue Se;vice of a joinf US fndividual Incbme Tax Return, Form 1040, of

himself and his wife, for the calendar year 2007. The return was false and fraudulent as to a

material matter in that it reported on Line 17 Schedule E income in the amount of $200,99.l,

whereas, as the Defendant then and there well knew, he and his wife had Schedule E income
.well in excess of that amount.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).

28
13-50592.5916
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. COUNTTWO
[26 U.S.C. § 7206(1)]

On or about October 21, 2008, in the Westem District of Texas, the Defendant,
| CHERYL BROOKS,
d1d willfully make and subscrrbe a joint U.S, Indmdual Income Tax Retum Form' 1040, of
herself and her husband for the calendar year 2007, Wthh was verified by a written declaration
‘that it was made under the penalt1es of per_lury, and which the Defendant d1d not beheve to be '
true and correct as to every material matter. That joint U.S, Ind1v1dual Income Tax Return, Form

1040, which was filed with the Director, Internal Revenue Service Center, at Austm Texas, was

'false and fraudulent as to a material matter in that it reported on Line 17 Schedule E income in
the amount, .of $200 991, whereas as the Defendant then and there well knew, she and her
husband had Sc_hedule E income well in excess of that amount.

In violation of Titie 26, United States Code, Section 7206(1).

- | COUNT THREE
- [26 US.C. § 7206(2)]

On or about October 27, 2008, in the District of Utah, the Defendants,
. : < -

ROBERT BROOKS
and

RN OIN T TNy

S ' . - CHERVI BRAAKG

did willfully aid and assist in, and procure, counsel, and advise, the preparation and presentation
to the Internal Revenue Service of a U.S. Retum of Partnership Income, Form 1065, of Upscale

Realty, LLC, for the tax year April 10, 2007, to December 31, 2007, The return was false and

: fraudulent as to a material matter in that it reported on Line 20 Other Deductions in the amount
E . of $798,855, whereas, as the Defendants well knew, included in that amount was a $475,000
5
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“management fee” to a corporation partly owned by Defendant Robert Brooks which had not in
fact been paid.
In violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(1).

A TRUE BILL.

OF THE GRAND JURY

ROBERT PITMAN
United.States Attorney

By:/z/«/ﬁ’"?ﬁ/)?;\v S
WILLIAM R. HARRIS ' '
Assistant United States Attorney

30 12-560592.59138
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| RHTED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
SAN ANTONIO DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
2 | CRIMINAL NO. SA 10 CR 536 (1) FB

| CRIMINAL NO. SA 12 CR 666 (1) FB
ROBERT BROOKS I

GOVERNMENT’S CONSOLIDATED RESPONSE TO
DEFENDANT’S MOTIONS FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF
PURSUANT TO TITLE 28, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 2255

COMES NOW the United States of America, by and through its undersigned counsel, and
in opposing the Defendant’s Motions for Post-Conviction Relief states as follows:

L Procedural Status

The Defendant was charged in two separate indictments Which were consolidated for trial.
The Indictment in Criminal No. SA 10 CR 536 (1) FB charged the Defendant, along with 21 other
individuals, to include his wife, with one count_of conspiracy in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Section 1349, and eight counts of use of common carriers engaged in interstate commerce.

to execute a scheme to defraud various mortgage lenders and to obtain money and property from

them by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341. These charges will be referred to herein as the
“mortgage fraud” or “mail fraud” counts. The Indictment in Criminal No. SA 12 CR 666 (1) FB
charged the Defendant with two counts of aiding and assisting the preparation and presentation to
the Internal Revenue Service of false and fraudulent tax returns, in violation of Title 26, United
States Code, Section 7206(2). These charges will be referred to herein as the “tax” counts.
Defendant proceeded to a consolidated trial of both indictments before the Honorable Fred Biery,

United States District Judge, and was found guilty of the mortgage fraud conspiracy, seven of the
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substantive mail fraud édunt’sl and both of the tax counts. The Court sentenced the Defendant to
aAltotal. of 135 moﬁths on each of the mortgage fraud counts to be served concurrently with each
other, and to 36 months on each of th’e tax counts, to be s_erved. concurrently with each other, and
to be served concurrently with the 135 months for the mortgage fraud counts. The Defendant was
also sentenced to serve concurrent téqns of supervised release, specifically 5 years on each of
Counts One, Seven, and Eig_ht, and 3 years on the remaining counts of conviction in the mortgage
' fraud case, and 1 year on each count in‘i;:;the tax case. With the exception of the vapation of Count
Three on appeal, Defendant’s convictioﬁs and sentences were affirmed on direct appeal.
The Defen&ant now seeks post-conviction relief through two separate motions, one filed in

the mortgage fraud case, and the other filed in the tax case. The United States will address each

in turn, but for the reasons stated hefein, they should each be denied.

IL The Morteage Fraud Counts

In seeking to vacate his mortgage fraud convictions and sentencing, the Defendant argues

that the Court lacked jurisdiction due to;'.fthe United States® failure to prove that the victim mortgage

companies were “financial institutiohs_” within the meaning of Title 18, United States Code,

‘Section 202, insured by the Federal;*Deposit Insurance Corporation (herein “FDIC”). The

Defendant argues that this is an essential element of the mortgage fréud counts. The Defendant is

mistaken.

! One mail fraud count (Count Six) was dismissed at the close of the Government’s case due to lack of evidence
of the use of a common carrier engaged in interstate commerce to transport the documents in question. On direct
appeal, the United States conceded there was insufficient evidence to support the guilty verdict as to Count Three.

2 The portion of Section 20 relevant to ’_é[he instant case is subsection one:

As used in this title, the term “financial institution” means—

(1) an insured depository institution (as defined in section 3(c)(2) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act).

2
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(3

The Defendant was'éheirged in Count Orie with conspiracy in viorauon of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1349, which provides: “Any person who attempts or conspires to commit any
offense under this chapter shall be subject to the same penalties as those prescribed for the offense,
the commission of which was the object of the attempt or conspiracy.” Es charged in the

Indictment, the conspiracy was “to devise a scheme to defraud one or more federally insured

financial institutions, and other mortgage companiegand to obtain money and property by means

of false and fraudulent pretenseé, representations, and prom'is'es, and to cause the use of the mails .

and interstate wire transfers for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute their fraudulent

scheme, contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341, 1343, 1344 and 2.” Sections

1341, 1343, 1344 and 2 are, respecﬁvely, mail fraud®, wire fraud, bank fraud, and the agency

statute. Ehis is considered a “multi-object” conspiracy; It is well established that although
multiple objects may be alleged conjunctively, the government need only prove one of the multiple
_objects to sustain a conviction for conspiracy..]Grifﬁn v. United States, 502 U.S. 46 (1991). I_:l:he

jury in the instant case was instructed that the conspiracy was to commit mail fraud in violation of

Section 134IJThe’jury charge given in this case is atfached as Exhibit A. Tbe jury was instructed
that the essential elements for this conspiracy are: |

First: That the defendant and at least one other person made an agreemenf to commit the
crime of mail fraud as charged in the Indictment;

Second: The defendant knew the unl.awful, purpose of the agreement and joined in it

willfully, that is, with the intent to further the unlawful purpose; and

3 Actually titled “Frauds and Swindles” which proscribes the use of “any private or commercial interstate
carrier” in addition to the Postal Service, in executing fraud schemes.
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Third: That one of the conspirators during the existence on conspiracy knowingly

committed at least one of the overt acts described in the indictment, in order to accomplish some

object or purpose of the conspiracy.

[ Pattern Jury Instructions, § 2.15A (Conspiracy to Commit Offense) Criminal Cases, United States

Fifth Circuit District Judges Association, 2015, modified (written for Title 18,.United States Code,

——————

Section 371, but applicable to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349). l

Counts Two, Four, Five, and Seven through Nine charged substantive mail fraud counts in

violation of Section 1341. That statute provides in relevant part:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for
obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or
promises, * * *, for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or attempting so to
do, * * *, knowingly causes to be delivered by mail or such carrier according to the
direction thereon, * * *, any such matter or thing, shall be fined under this title* or
imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both. If the violation * * * affects a financial
institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more
than 30 years, or both. '

The Court instructed the jury that the essential elements to find a violation of this statute
are:

First: That the defendant knowingly created a scheme to defraud, that is to obtain monéy
from mortgage proceeds through the use of a simultaneous purchase at or about fair market value
and sale at an artificially inflated price, known as a “Jand flip” or “property flip”;

_ Second: That the defendant acted with a specific intgnt to defraud;
Third: That tﬁe defendant mailed something or caused another person to mail something
, thréugh the United States Postal Sefvicg ora p_rivate or commercial interstate carrier, for the
purpose of carrying out the scheme, to wit:

[Details of each cartier, property and mortgage lender for each respective count]

4 $250,000 (footnote added). -
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Fourth: That the scheme to defraud employed false material representations; and

Fifth: That the scheme affected a financial institution in Count Two and Count Eight. The
parties have stipulated for purposes of Count Two that Supreme Mortgage Group (sic) in
San Antonio, Texas is a financial institution. The parties have also stipulated for purposes
of Count Eight that Countrywide Bank, FSB-is 2 financial institution.

Pattern Jury Instructions; § 2.56 (Mail Fraud) Criminal Cases, United States Fifth Circuit District

Judges Assoeiation, 2015, modified.

In fact, the only relevanceﬂof a victim being a financial institution is for the enhanced
punishment of 30 years’ imprisonrnent versus 20, $1 million fine versus $250,000, and five years
of superv1sed release versus three. Under the Apprendi line of cases’, the United States must plead
and prove the status of a victim as a financial institution in order for the enhanced pumshments to
be imposed.. This is relevant in the instant case only as to the order of five years’ supervised release
for Counts One, Seven, and Eight as rest of the sentence irnposed — 135 months and no fine fall
well below\the base statutory punishment of 20 years and a $250,000 fine. Thus, while the United
States was only required to prove that any g given mortgage company was a “financial 1nst1tut10n
insured by the FDIC in order to enhance punishment, it was not required to do so in order to

establish federal jurisdiction. Federal jurisdiction in this case was established through the

Commerce Clause® via the use of common carriers engaged in interstate commerce to execute the

scheme. Further, the Defendant is mistaken in his assertion that the United States failed to prove

that any of the lenders were financial institutions. As noted in the jury charge and indeed in

5 Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 US 466 (2000)

6 United States Constitution, Article I, Section 8, Clause 3. ) .
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Defendant’s Motion, the parties stipulated that the mortgage lenders ... Counts Two and Eight”
~ were financial institutions. It is axiomatic that a stipulation is treated as a proven fact. See, e.g.,
United States v. Caldwell, 586 F.3d 338, 343 (5% Cir. 2009) (“When one party stipulates to a

disputed fact, the stipulation conclusively proves that fact.”)

Inasmuch as the Court had jurisdiction, and each of the essential elements were found by
the jury to have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, Defendant is not entitled to the relief e
seeks. His Motion to vacate the mortgage fraud convictions and sentences should therefore be

overruled.

-HI.  The Tax Counts

The Defendant érgues that his convictions and sentence for the tax counts should be set
aside due to the ineffective assistance of both his trial and appellate counsel.? In support, he cites
five overlapping or repetitive grounds, which will be addressed in turn.

A. The Standard of Review

The Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States guarantees the right to
effective assistance of counsel in criminal prosecuﬁons. Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 US. 1, 5
(2003). To obtain the relief he seeks, the Defendant must prove both (1) that trial counsel’s
‘ performance “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness”, Strickland v. Washington, 466
U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984), and (2) that counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the Defendant,
resulting in an unreliable or fundamentally unfair- outcome in the proceeding. Id., at 69.1-92.

Failure to satisfy either prong of the test is fatal to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id.,

at 697.

7 Counts One and Seven were not mentioned, and the Court did not impose the enhanced sentence of § years’
supervised release as to Count Two. If the Defendant is entitled to any relief at all, it is only to have his supervised
release on Counts One and Seven reduced from five years to three.

8 Stephen H. Gordori, Esquire, and Kerrisa Chelkowski, Esquire, respectively.
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[18U.S.C.§ 1349]

1. . The Iutroduction to this H.Emnnuna is incorporated herein as if fully amﬁna.
.w. From on or about May 17, uo&.. to on or about February 21, 2008, Fﬁwm ‘Western
District of Téxas, the Northem District of Texas, and elsewhere, En Defendants, .

‘ .. ROBERT BROOKS,

and others _Eciu pnm Ewuciﬂo the Grand Tury 9@ §=Ha=v. and _Bodsnﬁv. combine,

Sumv_a. confederate EE wmao Smon_s. and with each oEﬂ. and with other persons, to mn&mn a

scheme to defraud one or more federally insured financial Tnstitwtions, and other Eonmuwa r

SwaEn.._. and to obtain Eo:& and nnobnnw by means om false and mﬁ&:—«& Ea»oﬁam.

nnunnmnugoum. En promises, »E:.o oquEo En of the mails Ea Eﬁmﬁh wire a.mEmaa for C

the-purpose of executing and REEEEW to nxanﬁn En_n #.u:aaann mnrnEn Sng toTitle 18,
dESn States Ooua. mgnoum 52 1343, 1344 a and 2.
THE oEmnH OF THE CONSPIRACY
w. It was the ognan of the Sn.énm& to obtain EBQ from Ecnmwmn Hﬁoon&m
) Baoswr the use c». a mEE_BuSE wE.nEma at-or about fair Eﬁwﬂ <w_=o and sale at an artificially
Eba.& price, known as a “land n%.. or Jﬁﬁq&. HEU

' gbzzmwgz.m. m

.?o Suucg BE mn_unnﬁ to defrand were nnSBu__mwnn Eanw_u the ».o:aeEn means: ’

i- Unmnunuba ROBERT BROOKS end Om”mWAH wWOONm onmwm& in the w_._mEnmm‘

of w&Ew and HEEHE_SE_«. selling ¢condominium units (condos) and nouﬁunonm_ residences,

otherwise _Boiu as ..nEume

.A. Defendant Wommﬂ.—. BROOKS a:.onnv. or i:r the assistance of others located

residential Eoun»%&:oriﬁ for sale. -

.5, Ummﬂaﬁ: WomeHwWOONm and others Hn_.Er& unaauw »o act as nominee

buyers of the an_nEnm. )

TLAND\LTMENT

-~

United States v. Robert Brooks(1), SA-10-CR-536-FB
COUNT ONE:

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MAIL FRAUD'
18 US.C. § 1349

. Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349, makes it a crime for anyone to moumumun to use

" the mails in carrying out a scheme to defrand.

The defendant is charged with conspiring to use the mails and interstate wire transfers for En

purpose of executing and m&onaum to execute a fraudulent mowaﬁm. to wit: obtain money from
mortgage wuonanmm through En use of mEpESunoﬁ purchase at or m&oﬁ fair market valug and sale

at an artificially inflated price, kmownasa ::Ea flip” or “property flip.”

A “conspiracy” is an agreemént between two or more persons to join togetherto momoBmmu_p .

some unlawful purpose. Ttis a kind of “partnership in crime” in which each member becomes the
agent of every other Emn._,amn.

For u.o_:o mun the defendant guilty of this crime, <o¢ mustbe convinced that the government

" has Hﬁoﬁwn owor of the following beyond a reasonable &oﬁ_uﬁ

First: That the nomnumnbﬁ E—m at Houma one other waamob made an wmnmoﬁnﬁ to commit the

.S.ES of mail frand as owmnmnm in 9» Indictment;

_Third: That one of the oo__._%m.nwnonm mnd.um the existence of the conspiracy kmowingly

comumitted at least one of the overt acts described in the Indictment, in order to accomplish some

. object or purpose of the conspiracy-

AUy \NSTRWETIONS
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" Case 5:10-cr-00536 Document 1304 - © Filed 04/20/2016(Page 1 of 2

- @ FILED

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT of TEXAS APR. 20 2016
: SAN ANTONIO DIVISION . CLERK,
| | WESTE R 0%
UNITED STATES of AMERICA, § BY I
. - , § ﬂ ?)_-zuu TY CLERK
Plaintiff §
. § ' '
V. § . Criminal Case :
L § No SA-10- CR—536(1)-FB
ROBERT NICHOLAS BROOKS, §
BoP # 63355-280, §
§
Defendant §
ORDER

Before the 'Court is DefendantRobert Nicholas Brooks’ Rule 60(b)(4) and (6) Motion

' _Requestmg His Conv1ctions Be Set Aside for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction (Docket Entry #

1302) which this Court construes as a 28 U.S.C. § 2255 Motion to Vacate Federal Sentence.

Defendant Brooks was convicted in this Court for conspuacy to commit ma11 fraud and

multiple counts of mail fraud. Defendant s current Motion challenges his convictions contending

- there was no proof at tnal the affected financial mst1tut10ns were insured by the Federal Deposit -

Insurance Corporation, a.nd absent'such proof the evidence is not sufﬁcient to prove an offense and

this Court is without jurisdiction.

Defendant charactenzes his Motion as a motion 1 pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
60(b) The Rules of Civil Procedure do not apply m ‘criminal cases. Because Defendant '
¢ollaterally challenge_s his convictions, this Court construes Defendant’s current Motion as a
§ 2255 nlotion to vacatel his federal convictions, and the Clerk of Court shall ﬁle this case
aecordingly. A | ‘

Defendant is warned a federel prisoner is' generaliy liniited to one § 2255 motion, and a

“second or success1ve > §2255 motion may not proceed wnhout the authorization of the Court of
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'_ “Case 5:10-cr-00536 DocumeAnt 1304 E Filed 04/20/2016 Page 2 ot 2
Ap;eals, see 28 US.C. § 2244(b), consequently a § 2255 mova.ut must present all his clalms in his |
first § 2255 motion or risk losing such claims. This Court grants Defendant twenty-one (21) days
to w1thdraw the motlon, amend it so that it contains all his § 2255 clairns, or advise this Court

. hewishes to proceed with his orlgmal Motion without amendment See Castrov. U S.,540U0.8. -
375, 383 124 S. Ct. 786, 157 L Ed. 2d 778 (2003) If Defendant fails to respond to tlus Order, his
Motion will be drsmssed for failure to prosecute and farlure to comply with the Orders of this Court
nnreuanf to Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(b). See Martznez v. Iohnson 104 F.3d 769 772 (5th Cu' 1997).

Defendant’s Motlon for Dll‘CCth Verdict (Entry # 1303), requesting this Court grant )

' Defendant s§ 2255 Motlon for the Govemment s fallure to respond, is DENIED The Govemment
‘is not required to respond to a § 2255 motion until ordered by this Court see Rule 4(b) of the Rules

: Govermng § 2255 ‘Proceedmgs, and this Court has not ordered the Government to respond.

It is so ORDERED.

SIGNED this 20th _ day of April, 2016.. . _
FREPBIERY ’
(TED STATES DISTRICT
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
"WESTERN DISTRICT of TEXAS

SAN ANTONIO DIVISION
UNITED STATES of ANIERICA § : o ,
_ § t _Civil Actions .
'Plaintiff-Respondent, § L : Nos. SA-16-CA-557-FB &
: : § i SA-16-CA-558-FB
VS. § e o
§ o Criminal Case
ROBERT BROOKS BoP Reg # 63355-280, § , Nos. SA-10-CR-536(1)-FB &
§ SA-12-CR-666(1)-FB

Defendant—Movant. §
MEMORANDUM DEC»ISION
Before the Court are Defendant Robert Brooks"s 28U.S.C. § 2255 Motions to Vacate Fec‘.eral :
Scntcnce (Case 10- CR—536(1) Docket Entry Numbers 1313 & 1315; Case 12-CR-666(1) Docket
Entry Numbers 149 & 152) and the Govemment s Consohdated Answer (Case 10-CR-536(1) Docket -
EnW Number 1319; CasP 12-CR-666(1) Entrv # 154, “°’er""-‘t "‘“*;s clso fledah L'U\.A,u oo
Directed Verdict, Motion for Recons1derat10n and MOthIl for Summary J udgment in Case No SA-
10- CR-536(1)-FB (Docket Entry Numbers 1322 1331 & 1335) presenting the same 1ssuc as in his

§ 2255 motion, Wlnch this Court construes as supplements to his § 2255 motion.

o L

Defendant Brooks was convictcd in2013 following ajurytrialin Case No. SA—lO—CR—536(1)- |
FB of conspn'acy to commlt mail fraud mv1olat10n of 18 U.S. C §§ 1349 1341 and 2, and six counts '
of aiding and abetting mail fraud in v1olat10n of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 2, and was sentenced to
- concurrent 135 month terms on each offense. The same Jury conv1cted Mr. Brooks of two counts
| of a1dmg and abetting tax fraud in v1olat10n of 26 U. S C.§ 7206(2), and he was sentenced to
concurrent 36 month terms for each offense. M. Brooks’s sentenccs in the two cases were
concurrent The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals vacated one of the mail fraud counts for msufﬁc1ent

ev1dence ‘but his remaining convxctlons were afﬁrmed and the Supreme Court denied h1s cert.

40



LASE /1L UITYUUVUL  ruvsiee e

petition, United States v. Brobks, No. 13-50592 (5th 0u Jan. 15, 2015), cert. denied, No. 14-9410
(US June 8, 2015). | AR
The evidence at trial established from May 2005 through February 2008, Defendant Brooks
and his co- consprrators were involved in a complex mortgage fraud scheme where they defranded
various mortgage lenders of more than $15,000,000. Defendant Brooks and his consplrators who
included employees of Mr. Brooks’s companies, appraisers, brokers, and underwriters - perpetrated
this fraud by engaging in “property ﬂips,” a scheme wherel properties were'purchased at fair market
- value and then resold almost simultaneously to “straw” purchasers at grossly mﬂated values to
generate an inflated mortgage loan. The scheme requlred submlttmg false mformatlon mcludmg ’
bogus appraisals, and documents misrepresenting the 1nte'nt10ns, financial commrtment, and credit-
worthmess of the straw purchasers to the mortgage lenders. The witnesses at trial included many
| of the straw purchasers and defendant’s co- conspuators as well as representatlves of the defrauded
LVIEEES 1::n0ers' The evidznce also showed that in 2007, defendant caused to te filed a false and
ﬁ'audulent tax return that understated his income and claimed a non-existent busmess deductlon
I
Section 2255 provides for relief Where =
the sentence was imposed in violation of the Constltutlon or laws of the Umted
States, or . . . the court was without ]unsdlctlon‘to impose such sentence, or .
the sentence was in excess of the maximum authorized by law, or is otherwrse _
subJ ect to collateral attack . .
Relief in a proceedmg collaterally attackmg a sentence under § 2255 is limited to situations
~ mvolvmg "“transgressions of constrtutlonal rights and for. that narrow compass of other mJury that

could not have been ralsed on dlrect appeal and would, if condoned resultina complete miscarriage

of justice.”” United States v. Guerra, 94 F 3d 989, 995 (Sth Cir. 1996)
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Rule 2 of the Rules Govemmg § 2255 Proceedmgs requires that the motion set forth the
grounds for relief and “state the facts supporting each ground ” Section 2255 requlres that the
dlstnct court grant an evidentiary hearing on a movant’s clalms "[u]nless the motlon and the files:
and records of the case concluswely show that the pnsoner is entitled to no relief." A hearing is not
required on c1a1ms based on unsupported generahzatlons Unzted States V. Guerra 588F.2d 519, 521

' (Sth Cir. 1979), cert denied, 450 U.S. 934 (1981), conclusory or speculatlve claims, United States
| V. Martmez 181 F 3d 627, 628 (5th Cir. 1999) (vague and conclusory allegations not sufficient to
- tngger a heanng or response from the government) Unzted States v. Fishel, 747F.2d 271 273 (5th ‘
Cir. 1984) (conclusory and speculative allegatlons not sufficient to warrant a heanng) or claims
de01ded on direct appeal, United States v. McCollom 664 F.2d 56 59 (5th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, -
456 U.S. 934 (1982). '

. - Mail Fraud Counts in Case Nd. 10-CR—536(1) -

IvL:. 1-TOO0KS contends mere was no showing the allegeoly defranded mortgage companies were -

federally insured “ﬁnancml mstxtutlons” as defined by 18 U S.C. § 20, and thus the District Court

had no jurisdiction and the evidence was msufﬁment to support his mail fraud convictions in 1 Case

e

No. 10- CR-536(1) This issue is procedurally barred and Wlthout merit.

Thls Court is precluded from addressmg 1ssues addressed expressly or 1mp11c1t1y by the Court
of Appeals See Umted States v. Clark 816 F.3d 350, 361 (5th Cir. 2016) ‘On direct appeal the
Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals held that the evidence was sufficient to support defendant s
convictions, and thus expfeésly or implicitly determined that all the elementa of the offenses were .

B
I3

established.

i
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Tn any event, this issue is without merit. ‘Defendant Brooks’s convictions pursuant to §§ 1349 |

" and 1341 did not require ‘proof the mortgage compémies were -federally insured “finauncial )

institutions” because such is not an element under either § 1349 or § 1341.

" Section 1349 states that “[a]ny person who attempts or conspires to commit any offense under -

this chapter shall be subject to the same penalties as those prescribed_ for the offense, the commission '

N

of wﬁich was the objéct of'.‘thé attémpt or conspirafz.” ’I’hq jury was charged that the object ofthe |

alleged conspiracy was mail fraud_. Sectionv 1331, deﬁni@ mail fraud, pro{lides in relevant part:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud,
or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises, . . . for the purpose of executing such scheme or
artifice or attermpting so to do, . . . knowingly causes to be delivered by raaii or
such carrier according to the direction thereon, . . . any such matter or thing, chall

" be fined under thistitle or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both. if the
violation . . . affects a financial institution, such person shall bz fined not more
than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 3(|) years, or both.

Neitazr §3 1349 or 1341 raquive nroof thot the Grovd vt s o “Epziiial elt e D32 :
United States v. Mendoza, 4 F. App’X 94, 97-98 (2nd Cir. 2001), Unitgd States v. Ali, 508 F.3d 136, V,
146 (3d Cir. 2007); United States Winingear, 422 F.3d 1;52211, 1246 (11th Cir. 2005). Preof that a
fraud victim waé a “financial institution” was required Snly for the application of the enhanced
penalty in the last sentence ﬁnder § -134 1, see id; howeve;i' in defendant;s case this appliéd only to
" Counts Two and Eight of thg Indictment, and it was stipulated tﬁat Sup;'eme Morfgage Group m San
| Antonio as alleged in Count Two, and Countrywide Bank, FSB, as alleged in Count Eight are
““financial instifutions.” | |

[i:‘ederal jurfsdicﬁon was established through the commerce clause because the evidence showed

 the fraudulent séheihe utilized interstate common carrier;c.] See United States v. Marek, 238 F.3d

1310, 318 (5th Ciri), cert. dén_ifzd, 534 U.S. 812 (200 1_).[_'Thérefore there is no basis fof defendant’s
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contention this Court was without juf_is’diqtion to g_ddressith,e ﬁaail fraud counts or the e;vidence was
.insu_fﬁcient to support such counts] | )
- Tax Frand Counts in Case No. 12-CR-666(1) -

Mr. Brooks contends that his tax fréud copvictions resulted from ineffective assistance of
counsel.

To establish inéffectivé assistance of counsel, a defendant must show counsel's performance
wa.s deficient, i.e. counsel’s performance was not profcs.si:ona_lly reasonable, and counsel's déﬁcieﬁt
performa:nce' prejudiced the petitioner, i.e. "[t]he defendﬁnt must éﬁow that there is a reasonable
probabﬂlty that, but for counscl's unprofessmnal errors, the result ofthe proceedmg would have beeu
different.” Strickland v. Washzngton 466 U.S. 668, 687 94 104 S Ct 2052 80 L. Ed. 2d 674
- (1984). There is a strong presumptlon counsel's conduct falls w1thm the wide range of reasonable
profess1onal assistance or r sound trial strategy. Id. at 689 In order to demonstrate prejudice, a
u.';fe.udam must show not only that haG counsei acted in a differsnt manner a new trial would have
been granted, but also that, as a result of counsel's incompetence, the trial was rendered
fundamentallyunfalr or unreliable. Lockhartv Fretwell, 506U S 364,369-70, 113 S. Ct. 838 112
L. Ed. 24180 (1993). |

-i-

Defendant first contends that his counsel was iheffefc':t.i;ve for failing to object to joinder of the -
tax fraud and ﬁail fraud cas‘es, and to irﬁproper venue as ;.he alleged offenses occurred in Dallas m :
the Northem'Distriqt, and witnesses that Wc_)uId 1_1ave beeﬁj évailable ini Dallas ‘were not available in
. the Western District.

Venue was proper in the Western District of Texas:because several of the mortgage lenders -

were located in the Western District. Moreovér, defendant agreed to waive venue because the
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Government agreed to Mr. Brooks’s continued release onbond and his sel!—surrender. Consolidation

—

of the two cases also benefitted the defendant because it increased the likelihood that the mail fraud
and tax fraud cases would be grouped under the Sentencing Guidelines and that the sentences Would
.be imposed concurrently. Defendant’s claim that he had witnesses willing to testit’y in Dallas, who
A. would not have been willing to testify in San Antonio, is unavailing because pursuant to a subpoena
such witnesses could have been requlred to testify in San Antonio.
Defendant also claims thatina separate trial he “would have been able to testify regardmg the
Tax Fraud Counts without having to answer questions on the Mail Fraud Counts.” The Government
would have been permltted pursuant to FED. R. EVID. 404(b) to cross-examine Mr. Brooks about the
| mail fraud transactlons to show his motive, intent, preparatlon, plan, knowledge and absence of
mistake. -
_ -
- Defendantnext claims tha't oounsel was ineffective for failing to object to the indictment which
' fa11ed to allege the overt acts in support. "

An indictment is constltutlonally sufficient if it enumerates each element of the offense
notifies the defendant of the charges, and provides him with a double jeopardy defense against future
' prosecutions. See Hamliﬁg v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117, 94-S. Ct. 2587, 4.1' L. Ed. 2d 590 .
(1974) An indictment provides :fair notice if it states the speciﬁe facts and circumstances
surroundmg the offense in sufficient detall to inform a defendant of the charges. See id. at 1 17-18.

Count One of the Indictment charged Defendant Brooks with aiding and abetting the w11ful

filing of a false and fraudulent Form 1040 Tax Retum for 2007 in v1olat10n of § 7206(2) that

understated his income. Count Two charged Defendant B_rooks with aiding and abetting the wilful
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filing of a false and frandilont 2007 Tax Return that claimed a $475,000 deduction for ‘2
“management fee” that was not pa1d in violation of § 7206(2) | |

The Indlctment provided sufﬁclent notlce of the charges and the factual bas1s for the charges
An objection to the Indictment would have_been futile. See Koch v. VPucke,tt, 907 F.2d 524, 527 (5th
Cir. 1990) (“‘counsel is not reqnired to make futile motions or objections™). .

_ _ f m _ .

Defendant next claims counsei was ineffective for failing to objecttothe jury instruction which
failed to adequately provide that defendant’s acts mustbe knowmg and w11ful This claim is w1thcut |
merit. The jury charge mstructed he jury on the elements of the alleged offenses, the defendant was
presumed innocent, the Govemment had to prove its case beyond a reasonahle doubt, and repeatedly
" admonished that the defendant could be found guilty as 'charged only if he acted intentionally, |
knowingly, arid willfully. | | -

-jv-

Defendant claims his counsel was ineffective for failihg toraise a defense of good faith reliance
| on his acconntants. Defendant did not testify, and there was no other evidentiary basis forthis claim.
In any event, the jury charge included an instruction on g(%t)d t'aith, and defense-counsel, without an

evidentiary hasis_ for doing so, argued to the jury that defendant acted in good faith.

For each of defendant’s alle ged instances of ineffectivé counsel, de’fendant either fails to show
counsel’s performance was deficient or he was ptejudiced by‘ counsel’s perfor_mance; and thus
defendant bas no basis for an ineft‘cctive assistance ot‘ counsel claim. See Strickland v. Washi_ngton,
466 U.S. at 687-94. In any event in light of the substantial evidence against defennant, any counsel
errors did not affect the jury’s verdict and thus were harmless. See Brecht V. Abrahamson 5070.S.

619, 637-38, 113 S. Ct. 1710, 123 L. Ed.2d 353 (1993) (a federal habcas court may not grant relief
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on trial errors unless petm demonstrates the error “had a Slletn . and injurious effect or |
influence in determ1mng the jury’s verdlc ) |

Defendant s §2255 elalms are w1th0ut legal merit, are refiited by the record, or are conclusory;
therefore he is not ent1t1ed to § 2255 rehef ora heanng See United States v. Martinez, 181 F. 3d at
| 628; United States v. Fishel, 747 F. 2d at 273.

.

[ Accordingly, Defendant Brooks’ § 2255 Motions to Vacate Fede_ral Sentence (Case 10-CR-

536(1) Docket Entry Numbers 1313, 1315, 1322, 1331&1335-'case 12-CR-666(1) Docket Entry

Number 152) are DENIED and these § 2255 cases are DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE}AII

other pending motions are DENIED as moot and th1s case is now CLOSED Defendant’s § 2255
Motions fail to make "4 substantial showmg of the denial ofa federal nght " or a substantial showmg '
this Court’s procedural rulings are mccr)rrect as required by FED. R. APP. P 22, see Slack v.
"chDamel 529 U.S. 473, 483,120 S. Ct 159.: 146 L. Ed. 2d 542 (2000), and therefore this \,ourt
DENIES defendant a certlﬁcate of 'appealablhty. See Rule 11(a) of the Rules Governing § 2255
.Proceedings. | | | '

| Itis so ORDERED

SIGNED this 4th day of August, 2017. -

' ITED STATES DISTRICEIUDGE '
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!!;“ﬂl ITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT of TEXAS

SAN ANTONIO DIVISION
~ UNITED STATES of AMERICA, § _
: o § Civil Actions
Plaintiff-Respondent, § Nos. SA-16-CA-557-FB &
: § - SA-16-CA-558-FB
VS. _ §
, A § . Criminal Case
ROBERT BROOKS, BoP Reg. # 63355-280, § Nos. SA-10-CR-536(1)-FB &
' ' : § SA-12-CR-666(1)-FB
Defendant-Movant. § o
J UDGME NT

The Court has con51dered the Judgment to be entered in the above styled and numbered cause.
,' Pursuant to this Court’s Memorandum De01s1on of even date herew1th

ITIS HEREBY ORDERED ADJUDGED, and DECREED that Defendant Robert Nichiolas
Brooks’s 28 U. S C.§ 2255 Motlons to Vacate Federal Sentence are DENIED and these § 2255 cases

A

-are DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE Motlons pending, if any, are DENIED as moot, a

certificate of appealability is DEN[ED, and thls case is now CLOSED.
It is so ORDERED.- |
: ' - - i1
SIGNED this 4th day of August, 2017.
b

FREDBIERY f
4 D STATES DISTRIC’ GE
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURY
WESTERN DISTRICT of TEXAS -

SAN AN TONIO DIVIGION

UNITED STATES of AMERICA, | §

- § -

Plaintif* Respondent § Civil Action
W § No. SA-16-CA-557-FB

V. 2 § :

§ - Criminal Case '
ROBERT NICHOLAS BROOKS, § No. SA-10-CR-536(1)-FB

. § i H
afar dqnt.i\/_l:(\van §
ORDER~

Defendant Robert Nicholas Brooks’ Motlons for RecOnSideration and Amendment of J udgment
pursuant to FED. R CIV P. 59(e) and 60(b) (Docket Entry Numbers 1349 & 1355), seekmg
' reconsideration of th1s Court’s Order denymg and dismlssmg his28 U.S.C. § 2255 Motion to Vacate '
Federal Sentence, construed as successrve § 2255 motlons are DISMISSED WITHOUT
PREJUDICE for lack of ]unsdlctlon because the Court of Appeals has not authorized defendant to
file a successive § 2255 motion. See 28 US.C. § 2244(a)(3)(A), Jmted States v. Hernandes 708
F.3d 680, 681-82 (5th Cir. 2013) (explainmg that a motion for reconsrderatlon re-asserting a § 2255
claim on'the merits or presenting anew claim 1sin eff,ect a successive § 2255 motion).

Construmg the motions in the alternative as a #ED. R. CIV. P. 59(e) motion to lter or amend
_judgment or a Fep. R. Cv. P. 60(b) motlon for rehef from judgment challengmg this Court s
| procedural rulings in denymg and d15m1sSmg his § 2255 motion, the motlons are DENIED for the
reasons stated in this Court’s Memorandum Decision (Docket Entry # 345). Defendant failed to

identify an error of law or fact or other grounds warranting amendment or reconsideration of

judgment.
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" Defendant’s Motionto' rroceed In Forma Patuperis (IFP) (Docke. atry #1351) to appeal this
Court’q denial and dlsmlssal ofhis § 2255 Motlon is DENIED for the reasons stated in this Court’s
Memorandum Decision (Docket Entry #1345). Defendant’s §2255 motion and appeal failto present
a “good faith” non—ﬁwolous issue as requlred by 28 U.S. C.§ 1915(a)(3) for leave to proceed IFP

on appeal See Coppedge V. Unzted States 369 U.S. 438, 445, 82 S. Ct. 917, 8 L.Ed.2d21 (1962)
| Defendant s pro se Motion to Correct Judgment Pursuant to FED.R. CRIM P. 36 (Docket Entry
#1350) is DENIED b ecarse defend -ty f?rlei < id ntrfv a erenedl error.r'—u wirig; Culsctior.
All other pendrng nletions ere DENIED as moot.
It is so ORDERED |

SIGNED this 27th day of December 2017.

//2~ @L——
FRETBIERY /
UNlTED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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" UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT of TEXAS
~ SAN ANTONIO DIVISION
- UNITED STATES of AMERICA, | §
Plaintiff-Respondent, : § Civil Action
: . § No. SA-16-CA-558-FB
V. § _
' ‘ . - § Criminal Case
ROBERT NICHOLAS BROOKS, § No. SA-12-CR-666-FB
Defendant-Movant. §

ORDER

| Defendant RobertNlcholas Brooks * Motions for Recon51deratlon a.nd “for Independent Action”
pursuant toFed. Rs. va P.59(e) and 60(b) (Docket Entnes ##160 & 166), seekmg reconsrderahon
of this Court’s Order denymg and dlsmrssmg his 28 U.S.C. § 2255 Motion to Vacate Federal |
Sentence, construed assuccessive § 2255 motions, are DISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE for
lack of jurisdiction because the Court of Appeals has not authorized defendant to ﬁle a successive
§ 2255 motion. See 28 U S. C §2244(a)(3)(A) U.S. v. Hernandes, 708 F. 3d 680, 681-82 (5th Cir.
2013) (explaining that a motion for reconsideratlon re-asserting a § 2255 claim on the merits or
presenting a new-claim is in effect a successive § 2255 moti.on);
: Construing the motions in the al'ternative asaFed.R. Civ.P. 5 9(e) motion to alter or amend
- ]udgment or a Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b) motion for rellef from ]udgment challenging this Court 5
procedural rulings in denymg and drsmlssmg hlS § 2255 motion, the motions are DENIED for the
reasons stated in th1s Court’s Memorandum Dec1S1on (Docket Entry # 158) Defendant failed to
| identify an error of law or fact or other grounds warranting recons1derat10n of Judgment
Defendant’s Motlon to Proceed In Forma Pauperis (IFP) (Docket Entry #163) to appeal this

Court’s demal and d1sm1ssa1 of his § 2255 Motion is DENIED for the reasons stated in this Court’s
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MemErandum DCClSlOIl (r)ocket Entry #158). Defendant’s § 2255 i...don and appeal fail to present

a “good faith” non-frivolous issue as rcqulred by 28 U.S.C. § 191 5(a)(3) for leave to proceed IFP
on appeal. See Coppedge v. US., 369 U. S 438, 445 82S.Ct.917,8 L. Ed 24 21 (1962)

All other pendmg motlons are DENIED as moot. .

ltissoORDERED. i |

SIGNED thlS 5th day of J anuary, 201 8. |

]": 2

' % BIERY, - .
TED STATES DISTRICT
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'UNITED STATES 'DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
SAN ANTONIO DIVISION ‘

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff-Respondent, . '
SA-16-CA-557-FB (HJB)
V. .
SA-10-CR-536(1)-FB
ROBERT NICHOLAS_ BROOKS,

cmnmamemnmemmem'em

‘Defendant-Movant.
ORDER
Before the Court is prose Defendant-Movan ’s’ Motion Under 28U.S.C.§2255t0 Vacate
Set Asrde or Correct Sentence by a Person in Federal Custody. (Docket Enn'y 1309.) [Thls matter
was referred to the undersrgned by the Honorable Fred Biery on June 13, 2016] |
Defendant-Movant has filed an identical single § 2255 motion to vecate addressing two
separate criminal cases: SA-10-CR-536-FB and SA-12-CR-666-FB. In case number SA-10-CR-536,

[Defendant-Movant was convicted by jury of conspiracy to commit uvire, mail, and bank fraud in
. ————

vielation of 1.8 US.C. §§ _134_}2,_1341, 1343, and_l_3_4_4, and seven counts of aiding and abet’ting. a]
mail fraud scheme in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and he was sentenced to 135 months. In the
other case number, SA-12-CR-666 Defendant-Movant was convicted by jury oftwo counts of aiding

" and abetting the ﬁlmg of false tax returns and he was sentenced to 36 months
| Rule 2(d) of the Rules Governmg § 2255 Cases provides, “[a] moving party who seeks relief
: from more than one judgment must file a separate motion covering each; Judgment » A single motion

challenging multiple judgments is confusing because it is not clear whrch claim is being raised to

which conviction.
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Defendant-Movant's two r-c-rini’iijal cases are. unrelated, were: tried separately, and separate

judgments were. entered. -’AdditiOnglly,_ Defendant-Movant’s current. motion to vacate is

approxhately 100 pages. 'ExcessiQé page .lén'gth tends to obfuscate rathei;'thaﬁ clarify the issues
'resulﬁng in the possible risk that an. is’s’ﬁeo; argument may be overloaked.
Accondingly-, it 1s her_éEy ORDERED that, Withing"tﬁventy-o;ne Q1 days from t‘h‘e date of
t‘hié 0rder,_D.eféndant—MoVa1_1t must ﬁle-twd separate amended § 2255 m_o‘tion"s;.onc addressing case
. number SA-10-CR-536-FB,.and another one ad:dressiﬁg SA—-iZ—CR—66_6-FBa In each of these two
‘aménded.”moticns{o vacate, D‘ef;:r;dant—Movant- mustindicate onthe first page which qriminal case
he is challenging in thaf niotion. It 1s FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant-Movant’s two
émc‘nded § 2255 motions must be no ﬁimfe than th_ir’ty-ﬁvé: (35) pages in length, not including
exhibifs. Exhibitsmnst-ﬁbc..élearly marked. . |
If DefendantMovant fails to c_é)mply w.ith-tbis Oijdcr, his motions may be dismissed for
" failure to prosecute and faﬁilpr‘e' to Go'nipiy with the Orders of this Court pursuant to Federal Rule of

Civil Procedure 41(b). Cf Mizrtinéz v. Johnson, 104 F.3d 769, 772 (5th.Cir. 1997).

]j cm”‘O"
ited States Maglstrate T udge’

SIGNED on July22; 2016.
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IN THE Ul&ED STATES COURT OF’PPEALS
| FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT

~ No.17-50823
USDC No. 5:10-CR-536-1 G

USDC No. 5:16-CV-557 A True Copy
Certified Aug 16, 2017

' In re: ROBERT NICHOLAS BROOKS, 35'*
. » Clerk S Court of peals, Fifth Clrcmt
.Petitionelj

Petition for a Wnt of Mandamus to the
United States District Court for the
Western D1stnct of Texas, San Antonio

" Before REAVLEY SOUTHWICK and COSTA Gircuit Judges.
PER CURIAM
| Robert Nicholas Brooks, federal ‘prisoner # 63355 280, has filed in thls

- "court a pro se petition for a wnt of mandamus and a motion requesting leave

to file his mandamus petltlon in forma pauperis {FP). The motion for leave to
 proceed IFP is GRANTED. | |
- Brooks was conv1cted of consplracy to commlt ma11 fraud, mail fraud, and
ax fraud. United States v. Brooks 590 F App’x 435, 436 (5th Cir. Jan, 15
2015) In 2016 Brooks filed two pro se motions pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255

one ralsmg claims of ineffective ass1stance of counsel (date-stamped as filed on

August 24, 2016) and one assertmg that the 1nd1ctment should have been

dismissed for lack of jurisdiction’ (date -stamped as filed on September 1,20 16)

He also filed a motion seeking a directed verd1ct on the latter motion (date-

stamped as filed on December 8, 2016), and a motmn seekmg reconmderatlon

of a motion for acquittal under Rule 29 of the Federal Rules of Cnmmal ,
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Procedure, again assertmg a lack of ]unsdlctlon (date-stamped as ﬁled on
' February 14, 2017). The Government filed responses to h1s § 9255 motlons on
November 2, 2016, and to his motlon seeking recons1derat10n of his Rule 29
motlon on February 6, 2017

In his petition, Brooks asks this court to order the dlstnct court to vacate

- his conviction based on his cla1ms of lack of Jur1sdlct10n However, the

mandamus remedy is an extraordmary one, which we grant only in the
clearest, most compelling cases. A party seeking mandamus relief must show
~ both that he has no other adequate means for achieving the requested relief -
and that he has a clear and 1nd18putab1e right to mandamus relief. Inre Willy,
831 F.2d 545, 549 (bth Cir. 1987) Brooks s arguments regarding ]urrsdlctmn

are currently before the dlstnct court. If the district court rules against

- Brooks, he will have an appellate remedy. “Where an interest can be

vindicated through direct appeal after a final judgment, this court will
ordinarily not grant a wr1t of mandamus Campanwm v. Barr, 962 F.2d 461,
464 (5th Cir. 1992). | |

- To the extent that Brooks seeks habeas relief from this court in the first
instance, we decline to grant it. Even if cn-cmt judges retain authority to
entertaln an original habeas corpus pet1t10n pursuant to 28 US.C. § 2241
which is unclear in light of the Ant1terronsm and Effective Death Penalty Act |
of 1996, see Felker v. Turpin,: 518 U.S. 651, 660-61 & n.3 (1996), any such
authority rests in the hands of individual circuit judges, not the court of
appeals 1tse]f see szmerman v ' Spears, 565 F.2d 310, 316 (5th Cir. 1977).

Each member of this panel dechnes to exercise or1g1na1 ]urlsdlctlon remaining =

in individual c:rcult judges. See id.
The petition for a wrlt of mandamus is DENIED The motion to exped1te
is DENIED as moot.
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IN THE UN1+ED STATES COURT Ot _.PPEALS
'~ FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT

3

No.17-50735
A True Copy ’

) ‘ Certified order issued Sep 10, 2018

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, - d A
. ' ' Clerk;? —Court of peals,—Fafth-Glrcmt
Plaintiff-Appellee
v. .
ROBERT NICHOLAS BROOKS,
g . Defendant-Appe]lent |
Appeal from the Umted States Dlstrlct Court
for the Western District of Texas
 ORDER:

Robert Nicholas Brooks federal prlsoner # 63355-280, seeks a certificate
of. appealability (COA) to appeal the district court’s denial of his 28 U.S.C.
§ 2255 motion, cha]lengmg his convictions for conspiracy to commit mail fraud,
" mail fraud, and tax fraud, in. v101at10n of 18 U.S. C §§ 1349 and 1341 and
96 U.S.C. § 7206(2), and his resultmg 135-month sentence. To obtaln a COA,
he must make “a substantlal showmg of the denial of a constltutlonal right,”
28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2), which 1n ‘turn requires him to show that reasonable
| jurists would find the district court s decision to deny rehef debatable or wrong,
Slack v. McDaniel, 529 U.S. 473, 484 (2000), or “that Jur1sts could conclude the

issues presented are adequate to deserve encouragement to proceed further.”

 Miller- -El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322 327 (2003).
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If his COA b%xw is liberally construed, Brooks __news the following.

' clanns (1) the district court lacked jurisdiction over the ma1l fraud charges

because there was no proof that the victim mortgage comp anies were federally _
insured ﬁnanc1al 1nst1tut1ons (2) trial counsel was meffectwe in failing to
investigate impeachment ev1dence in the mail fraud case, (3) the Government

violated BradyLwhen it suppressed the same impeachment evidence, (4) trial

- and appellate counsel were ineffective in failing to object to the restitution
order in the mail fraud case (5) counsel was ineffective for fa1l1ng to assertthat
: the tr1al court was the improper venue for the tax fraud charges (6) counsel
. was ineffective in not calling hls accountant to testify in support of his good
faith defense to the tax fraud cha_rges, and (7) trial and appellate counsel were
ineffective in.faﬂing to challengef the jury in‘struction o_n good ‘faith for failing
to include reliance on the advice of an accountant. He additionally asserts that
the district court violated ‘his due process rights when it denied his § 2255
motion Wlthout first obtaining a report and recommendation from a magistrate
judge and erred in failing to hold an evidentiary hearing. ‘
| " Even with the benefit of liberal construction, Brooks does not brief any -
argument renewing the claims, raised in his § 2255 motion, that trial counsel
_Was 1neffect1ve in failing to challenge the improper Jo1nder of his two cases for
trial, in not challenging th_e sufflciency of tax fraud indictment on the ground
- that it failed to allege an overt act, and in not investigating and calling
Geraldlne Wﬂhams and Stacy Owens as witnesses, and that appellate counsel,
was 1neffect1ve in failing to ra15e the issue of his good faith on direct appeal.
Moreover, although he appealed the demal of his FED R. C1v. P 59(e) and 60(b)
motions, Brooks briefs no argument challenging the district court’s dlsmlssal

of those motions as success1vej and unauthorized. - Consequently, he has

1 Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963,).
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I

) | -
abandoned each of them, Claler See Hughes L. Johns , 191 F.3d 607, 613
(5th Cir. 1999) (stating that arguments not briefed in a COA motion are

deemed abandoned). ' l

J

Brooks also appears to raise, for the first time in h1s COA motion, the

following claims: (1) the mail fraud indictment was insufficient because it did
not allege Jur1sd1ct1on under the Commerce Clause, (2) trial and appellate
counsel were 1neffect1ve in falhng to argue that the jury instructions on the-
'ma1l fraud counts constructlvely amended the indictment, (8) trial and
appellate counsel were 1neffect1Ve in failing to challenge the sufficiency of the
'ma1l fraud indictment on the ground that it did not allege how the use of the
mail was essentlal or mater1al to the furtherance of the conspiracy, (4) trial
- counsel was ineffective in agreelng to an incorrect factual stlpulatlon (5) trial
and appellate counsel were in effect1ve in failing to argue that the evidence
- was insufficient to support his: tax ﬁ'aud convictions, (6) tr1al counsel was
ineffective in failing to mtroduce wiretap ev1dence to bolster his good faith
defense in the tax fraud case, (7) tr1al and appellate counsel were meffectlve in
failing to challenge the tax fraud indictment on the ground that it did not -
g adequately allege each of the requlred elements, including jurisdiction; and
(8) appellate counsel was. 1neffect1ve in failing to appeal the tax fraud
convictions on any ground These newly raised claims. will not be consadered
See Henderson v. Cockrell 333 F 3d 592, 605 (5th Cir. 2003) (statmg that thlS
court generally will not cons1der cla1ms raised for the first time inan appellate |
COA motion). ;
As to the p'roperljr 'briefe;di, and preserved claims, Brooks has not made
the required showing. See Slack, 520 U.S. at 484; Miller-El, 537 US. at 321.
He likewise fails to demonstrate that the district court erred in denylng l‘].lS

§ 2955 motion without first obtaining a report and recommendation from the
i Y
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~ magistrate judge or%’c it abused 1ts dlscretlon 1t fusing to hold an
ev1dent1ary hearing. See Umted States v. Raddatz, 447 U.S. 667, 681-82
'(1980) 28 US.C.§ 636(b)(1) see also Umted States v. Reed 719 F.3d 369, 373-
74 (5th Cir. 2013).

Accordingly, the‘in'st;nt ch motion is DENIED. Brooks’s motions for
leavé 'to proceed in forma pauperis on appeai, to supplement the record on

appeal, a_nd to vacate' the distriét ‘court’s judgnient are similarly DENIED.

_ /s/ Priscilla R. Owen
h PRISCILLA R. OWEN v
UNITED STATES CIRCUIT JUDGE
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"IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
- FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT ‘

~ No. 17-50735

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff - Appellee
v

ROBERT NICHOLAS BROOKS,

Defendant - Appelletnt :

Appeal from the United States’ Dlstrlct Court
- for the Western District of Texas

Before OWEN, WILLETT, and OLDHAM, Circuit Judges.

- PER CURIAIVI'

A member of this: panel prewously demed appellant s motion for
certlﬁcate of appealability. The panel ‘has cons1dered appellant's motion for
recons1derat10n 1T IS ORDERED that the motlon is DENIED



Additional material

" from this filingis
available in the
Clerk’s Office.



